1980

Kenneth N. Silliman and Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. v. Rex T. Powell, et al : Brief of Plaintiffs-Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This suit was commenced by plaintiffs-appellants to quiet title to their unpatented lode mining claims in the unorganized mining district known as Yellow Cat, located in Grand County, Utah, after defendants-respondents attempted to locate claims overlying those of appellants, to recover damages for slander of title, and to recover treble damages under Utah Code Ann. § 40-1-12 (1953), for ores wrongfully removed from some of said claims.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN THE LOWER COURT

This matter was tried before the Honorable A. John Ruggeri, Judge Pro Tem of the Seventh Judicial District in and for Grand County, sitting without a jury, on March 19-23, 1979,

and on April 3, 1979. During the trial, defendant Penromer Co. Ltd. entered into a stipulation of settlement with plaintiffs-appellants and with Powell defendants (Trial Transcript, Friday, March 23, 1979 at 679-81). A settlement of all issues between the plaintiffs-appellants and Rowe defendants was stipulated to soon after trial on May 14, 1979, and was recorded June 5, 1979. All remaining parties then submitted briefs to the court which issued its Memorandum Decision August 30, 1979, in favor of the defendants-respondents. When respondents finally submitted proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law in late January 1980, appellants made formal objections to the failure of the findings to specify, inter alia, the value of assessment work done benefitting appellants' claims. Objections were also made to the mischaracterization of the settlement between appellants and Rowe defendants, to the inclusion of findings of fact on issues settled between the parties, and to conclusions of law based on the objectionable findings (Record at 262-64). As approved by the court in unaltered form, these findings and conclusions stated that appellants failed to meet their alleged burden of showing that the assessment work done by appellants for assessment years ending September 1, 1973, through September 1, 1977, was sufficient in both character and amount to meet the requirements of 30 U.S.C. § 28, and thus the court found that the relocations subsequently made by defendants-respondents over appellants' claims were valid.

Although appellants showed that substantial assessment work had been done for their claims, the court in effect ruled that since it found the work insufficient to satisfy the assessment requirement as to all claims, the work was insufficient to meet the requirement as to any claims. The court's failure to make any findings as to the actual value of the assessment work done by the appellants apparently resulted from this conclusion.

The final decree of the court, entered February 13, 1980, while in some measure correcting the findings as to the nature of the stipulations of settlement entered into between appellants on the one hand and the Rowe and Penromer defendants on the other hand (though misstating the date of the appellants-Penromer stipulation as March 22, 1979, instead of March 23, 1979), otherwise quieted title to all claims in conflict in the respondents. The decree also dismissed appellants' damage claims, dissolved a temporary restraining order and temporary injunction previously entered prohibiting respondents from removing or selling uranium ore from the claims in conflict until entry of the final judgment, and awarded respondents their costs. The Findings of Fact and Final Decree were later amended by court order of March 12, 1980, adding six mining claims of Powell respondents included in their counterclaim, but inadvertently omitted from the original findings and decree.

A motion for new trial pursuant to Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure based on the discovery of new evidence and accompanied by supporting affidavits was made by appellants March 12, 1980, and denied the same day. The notice of appeal was also filed March 12, 1980.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants request that this Court reverse and vacate the judgment and findings of the Seventh Judicial District Court for Grand County, and remand this case for a new trial on the issue of the adequacy and sufficiency of the assessment work performed by appellants on their claims during the period September 1, 1972, through September 1, 1978.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This lawsuit was filed by appellants January 10, 1977, to quiet title to eighty-four (84) unpatented lode mining claims and one millsite situated in the Yellow Cat mining district in Grand County, Utah. These claims of appellants are valuable principally for their uranium and vanadium deposits. Virtually all of the claims are situated more or less along a three and one-half to four-mile long axis extending from the Little Pittsburgh No. 8 in the northeast corner to the Molly Hogans and the Silver Moon in the extreme southwest corner. All but eight (8) of the 84 claims are part of a single, continuous, multi-branching chain of overlapping and

immediately adjoining claims. (See Plaintiffs' Exhibits nos. 11 and 12.)

Twenty-six of the appellants' claims were originally located prior to 1937 and were deeded to appellant Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. in 1937. The balance of the claims were located by Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. during the years 1938 through 1956 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 2). In February and December of 1976, appellant Kenneth N. Silliman acquired in his own name from appellant Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. all but three (3) of the 84 claims. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 29.) Also in 1976, appellant Silliman, with members of his immediate family, became a controlling shareholder of Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. (Trial Transcript [hereinafter Tr.] at 279).

Since May 1948, appellant Kenneth N. Silliman has been associated with the property at issue in this suit and with plaintiff Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. (Tr. at 278-79). Appellant Silliman first began performing assessment work on the claims in 1948 and from the early 1950's he has served as Utah Manager and as a Director of Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. (Tr. at 281-82). In those capacities appellant Silliman has, from the early 1950s, been very much involved with the development of the claims and the drilling and mining thereon, with the hiring of miners, with the negotiation of contracts, both with drilling companies and with receiving stations, and with the negotiation of leases of the claims both to others and to himself (Tr. at 281-82). During the period 1948 to 1972, there was continuous mining

activity on appellants' claims (Tr. at 312). During those years, appellant Silliman built roads servicing the claims (Tr. at 306), performed other assessment work on the property (Tr. at 307, 315), assisted in the location of new claims and in the posting of notices (Tr. at 291), hauled ore from the claims (Tr. at 283, 310-11), and supervised mining activities on the claims (Tr. at 311). Appellant Silliman also managed drilling exploration of the area for a subsidiary corporation of Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. (Tr. at 314) and evaluated drilling logs and established the course of the drilling program (Tr. at 314-15, 328). He also consulted with numerous outside geologists about the mining claims in the Yellow Cat area (Tr. at 315, 351). In short, appellant Silliman became thoroughly familiar with the places on these claims where drilling had been done and ore had been mined, or where there was an outcrop of anything that would indicate the presence of mineralization (Tr. at 300).

The dispute in this case arose as a consequence of the attempted location by respondents, in the years 1974 to 1978, of claims overlying those of appellants. The first of these conflicting claims to be located was a group of twenty (20) claims located by respondents Powells in April 1974. Another sixty-eight (68) claims were located by Powells the summer of the following year during the period June 16, 1975 to August 23, 1975. Nine (9) more claims were located by Powells from September 18, 1975 to July 12, 1976, for a total of ninety-seven (97) Powell claims (Defendants' Exhibit 60). The

greater number of these claims conflict with one or more of all except about a dozen of appellants' 84 claims.

The other unresolved claims conflicting with those of appellants are twelve (12) located by Teares, or their predecessors in interest, five (5) in the period June 4 to August 25, 1977, and seven (7) more located in the interval September 4, 1977 to May 10, 1978 (Defendants' Exhibit 78). All of these Teare claims were located after the filing of this lawsuit on January 10, 1977.

The parties agree that the area in dispute was open to location under federal law at the time the parties located their respective claims except insofar as the land may have been withdrawn by the prior location of other mining claims. All respondents, with the exception of the Rows who have entered into a separate stipulation of settlement with appellants, have also admitted that appellants' claims were located prior to those of respondents (Record at 116). The only evidence offered at trial on the issue of whether the land occupied by appellants' claims had previously been located by others not parties and thus made unavailable for location by appellants failed to demonstrate such prior location by anyone else (Plaintiffs' Exhibit 2, Defendants' Exhibit 18, Tr. at 174-79, 205, 211, 216-17, 660-62, 931-33).

By stipulations, the parties have agreed that there is no issue of the discovery of ore on each of appellants' claims with the exception of Little Pittsburgh 1, Little Pittsburgh 2,

Mineral Alloy 2, Mineral Alloy 3, Telluride 4 and Parco 1 (Tr. at 548-49 and Stipulation for Settlement of Issues between Plaintiffs and Rowe Defendants, dated May 14, 1979, part of the Record on appeal but erroneously not numbered as a part thereof). However, at the trial uncontroverted evidence established that ore was mined and shipped from Little Pittsburghs 1 and 2 in the period 1951 to 1954 (Tr. at 17-18, 38, 57-58, 383-84). In 1954, at least 50 tons of ore were mined and shipped from Parco 1 (Tr. at 386). Also, drilling in 1952 on Telluride 4, Mineral Alloy 2, and Mineral Alloy 3 revealed the presence of uranium oxide ore fairly evenly distributed with a concentration of eight one-hundredths of one per cent (.08% U3O8) (Tr. at 383-86).

An engineering student hired to survey the existing claims of appellant in 1953 and 1954 testified that almost all discovery monuments were then in place on the ground with discovery notices posted, that many corner monuments were found, and that where missing or in need of improvement, the corner and discovery monuments were reconstructed and that all missing notices of location were replaced (Tr. at 9-11, 28-29). This work was attested to by appellant Silliman (Tr. at 288-89, 491-92, 936-37). The balance of appellants' claims, located in 1956 after the land was reopened to entry, were marked by discovery and corner monuments placed there by appellant Silliman, who also posted appropriate notices of location on the newly located claims (Tr. at 937-39). Notices

of location for all the foregoing claims to which appellants assert title were subsequently recorded (Plaintiffs' Exhibits 2, 27, Tr. at 283-85).

The trial court seems to have implicitly recognized that all requirements for the valid location of appellants' claims were met as it directed its findings only to the issues of abandonment and the adequacy of the assessment work done by appellants (R. at 121-22).

When some of the claims were later surveyed in 1956 and again in 1965, many of appellants' corner monuments were still standing, and those that were not were re-erected or replaced (Tr. at 62-63, 65, 75-76, 78-79, 81-82, 108, 494-96). During the 1970s, whenever appellant Silliman saw corner monuments that were down, he re-erected them (Tr. at 498-500). When in 1978, after the filing of the suit, some of the appellants' claims were resurveyed, the surveyor noted the presence of many of appellants' corner monuments, though some but not all of the notices identifying the claims delineated by the monuments had been removed or obliterated over time (Tr. at 125-29, 130). Respondents also introduced evidence tending to show that some of appellants' monuments or notices had deteriorated or otherwise been lost over the years prior to respondents' attempted relocation of appellants' claims (Tr. at 565, 575, 583, 593, 632-33, 683-84, 688, 730, 792, 795-96, 813-14, 842-43, 895). Yet, as respondents acknowledged seeing old monuments and mine workings, the thrust of their

observations went not to a complete absence of markings but merely to respondents' difficulty in identifying in the field the extent, ownership, and current status of the old claims (Tr. at 565, 632-37, 638, 675-76, 682-84, 690, 730-31, 797 800, 842, 891, 895).

The Powell respondents testified they "asked around" and otherwise attempted to ascertain the current owners and status of possibly conflicting claims that might be prior to their own and that this undertaking did not disclose appellants' interest (Tr. at 565-67, 632-638). This was contradicted by evidence that Mr. Bene, one of the previous surveyors of some of the appellants' claims, told Powells in August 1975, while on the property in issue to survey Powells' newly located claims, that he thought appellants had a current and valid interest in the same area (Tr. at 73-75). This conversation was denied by respondent Dan Powell (Tr. at 610-13), who admitted, however, that Powells understood the law to say that monuments on the ground need not be maintained once properly erected (Tr. at 594). Mr. Bene further stated that Powells' response to being informed of appellants' interest in the property was to say the validity of this interest turned on "whether the assessment work has been done during the last few years" (Tr. at 75).

Extensive testimony was heard at trial on the nature and sufficiency of the assessment work performed by appellants to meet the annual one hundred dollars (\$100) worth of labor

per claim required by 30 U.S.C. § 28 for the assessment years ending September 1, 1973, through September 1, 1977. These were the years immediately preceding the dates of respondents' attempted relocation of appellants' claims.

Most of the appellants' assessment work was done with a Caterpillar D-6 B bulldozer with a 12 1/2-foot blade, which was owned by appellant Silliman (Tr. at 306-307). The bulldozer was operated primarily by appellant Silliman, although occasionally appellant's son Blaine Silliman operated the bulldozer as well. An outside party was once hired to operate the bulldozer for a day or two (Tr. at 398-400). Appellant Silliman typically operated the bulldozer 10 to 12 hours a day while performing the assessment work, and occasionally up to 14 hours a day (Tr. at 401). Silliman's objective was to work at least 200 hours a year doing assessment work for the benefit of appellants' claims (Tr. at 402, 445). Appellant Silliman calculated the value to his claims of his personal operation of the bulldozer or that of another operator working under his direct supervision at \$50 per hour (Tr. at 407). While appellant Silliman was not actually paid \$50 per hour by appellant Utah Alloy Ores, Inc., this was apparently because Silliman had the claims under lease from 1961 on, and a condition of the lease was that he perform the assessment work (Tr. at 475). Even working for other parties on other property, appellant Silliman would charge approximately \$30 an hour (Tr. at 405-407).

Respondents attempted to produce evidence of a lower valuation per hour for the assessment work done by appellants by introducing testimony that in 1971 one independent contractor charged \$16 per hour for a D6 Caterpillar with an operator (Tr. at 648). However, respondents' witness testified that rates had gone up tremendously since that time. Furthermore, the quoted rate did not include any charge for the supervision of such an outside operator necessary to insure that the proper work was done to develop the claims. Another independent operator testified for respondents that for the operation of a D6 Caterpillar with a blade on it he charged \$15 per hour in 1972; \$17 in 1973; \$20 in 1974; \$23 in 1975; \$25 in 1976; \$30 in 1977; \$34 in 1978; and \$40 in 1979 (Tr. at 830). Again, these rates did not apparently include any charge for the supervision of this work by the owner of the mining claims. Furthermore, this contractor stated that he would charge an additional amount for the time necessary to haul the Caterpillar to and from the job site. The rates for hauling the equipment to the job site and back were usually within a dollar or two of what was charged for the operation of the Caterpillar (Tr. at 831).

Much of the assessment work during the years in issue was done by appellant Silliman with his bulldozer in stripping or removing the overburden from potential ore bodies, in constructing drill sites for future drilling, in preserving the existing mine workings, and in maintaining and improving

existing roads and constructing new roads on or about appellants' claims. These roads facilitated the development and mining of these claims by providing access to the claims and the ore bodies thereunder for drilling rigs, ore trucks, and all other necessary vehicles (Tr. at 306, 349-83).

More specifically, the assessment work for appellants' claims, broken down year by year, included the following:

For the assessment year September 1, 1972, to September 1, 1973

1. Drill sites at least 20 feet wide built on the Little Pittsburgh claim nos. 3, 4, 5, 6, and on Allor 11 and Allor 12 which drill sites were used two or three years later for actual drilling.
2. Normal road maintenance and rehabilitation that included widening roads to facilitate the passage of larger equipment on the property and the reducing of grades on hills too steep to be negotiated by trucks and drill rigs.
3. Stripping of overburden on the Little Pittsburgh claims nos. 3 and 4.

<u>Date</u>	<u>Hours</u>
October 1972	63
November 1972	65
August 1973	84
Total	<u>212</u>

At \$50 per hour this equals \$10,600 (Tr. at 349-55). Assessment work valued at \$8,400 would have been sufficient to preserve all of appellants' eighty-four (84) claims, had all 84 been located over during the following year, which they were not.

Powells located twenty (20) claims on April 12, 1974, hoping to take advantage of alleged deficiencies in the assessment work performed by appellants during 1972-1973.

These Powell claims conflict with the following eight (8) claims of appellants:

Allor 21-23;
Molly Hogan 1 & 2;
Telluride 5, 8 & 9.

(Compare Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12 with Defendants' Exhibit 58.)

For the assessment year September 1, 1973 to September 1, 1974

1. Approximately 20 hours work stripping the overburden on Memphis 1 and Memphis 4.
2. Clearing drill sites on Little Pittsburgh No. 4 for the subsequent Bogner drilling [1976-77 & 1977-78] and approximately 20 to 25 hours work clearing drill sites on Telluride 8 and 9.
3. Approximately 10 hours work building dams around the portals on Allor 12 with the construction of ditches to carry water away from the mines so they would not be unduly damaged.
4. Road maintenance and rehabilitation work.

<u>Date</u>	<u>Hours</u>
March 1974	110
August 1974	<u>93</u>
Total	203

At \$50 per hour this equals \$10,150 (Tr. at 355-59, 445-46).

Powells located sixty-eight (68) claims in June through August of 1975, hoping to take advantage of alleged deficiencies in the appellants' assessment work for 1973-1974. These Powell claims conflict with the following sixty-eight (68) claims of appellants:

A 1-3;
Allor 1-9, 11-13, 15-23, & 26-33;
CB 1, 2, & 4-7;
Little Pittsburgh 3-8;
Memphis 1-4;

Mineral Alloy No. 2;
Molly Hogan 1 & 2;
Parco 2, 5-7, 10, 23, & 25;
Skinney & Skinney No. 1;
Telluride 2-4, 7-8, 12, 18 & 25.

(Compare Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12 with Defendants' Exhibit 58.)

For the assessment year September 1, 1974, to September 1, 1975

1. Approximately 30 hours preparing drill sites on Parco 23.
2. About 20 hours preparing drill sites on Telluride 8 and 9 and on Allor 21 and 23.
3. Twenty hours opening the portal on Telluride 8 and 9 and repairing the access road to the mine portal from the haulage roads.
4. Thirty hours work stripping overburden on Little Pittsburgh 3 and 4.
5. Five hours doing portal repair work on Allor 12.
6. Road maintenance and rehabilitation including specifically the portions down to and around the Silver Moon, to Little Pittsburgh 1 and 2 and over to Allor 12.

<u>Date</u>	<u>Hours</u>
September 1974	90
August 1975	<u>122</u>
Total	212

At \$50 per hour this equals \$10,600 (Tr. at 359-61, 446-48).

The nine remaining Powell claims located between September 18, 1975, and July 12, 1976, in hopes of taking advantage of the alleged forfeiture for failure to do adequate assessment work in 1974-1975, conflict with the following twenty-two (22) claims of appellants:

A 2; Allor 6-7, 13, 16-19, 24, 26-28, & 33;
Memphis 2 & 3;
Parco 6-7, 10, & 23;
Telluride 1, 7, & 18.

(Compare Plaintiffs' Exhibit 12 with Defendants' Exhibit 58.)

For the assessment year September 1, 1975 to September 1, 1976

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