1980

## Kenneth N. Silliman and Utah Alloy Ores, Inc. v. Rex T. Powell, et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves conflicting unpatented lode mining claims located in Grand County, Utah in which each party seeks to quiet title in itself.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN THE LOWER COURT

This matter was tried before the Honorable A. John Ruggeri, Judge Pro Tem, of the Seventh Judicial District Court, in and for Grand County, sitting without a jury, on March 19-23, 1979 and on April 3, 1979. During the trial, defendant Penromer Co. Ltd. entered into a stipulation of settlement with plaintiffs-appellants and with Powell defendants (Trial Transcript, Friday, March 23, 1979 at pages 679-81). A settlement of all issues between plaintiffs-appellants and Rowe defendants was stipulated to soon after trial on May 14, 1979 and was recorded June 5, 1979. Following the trial, all remaining parties then submitted briefs to the Court which issued its Memorandum Decision on August 30,

1979 finding the issues in favor of defendants-respondents and against plaintiffs-appellants. Respondents then submitted the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law stating that for the assessment years ending September 1, 1973 through September 1, 1977 \$100.00 of labor was not performed nor improvements made as required by 30USCA Section 28 on Appellants' claims involved in this action which conflicted with defendants' claims. And that, therefore, the subsequent re-locations made by defendants-respondents over appellants claims were valid. These proposed findings and conclusions were approved by the Court despite appellants' objections.

The Court then entered its Decree dated February 13, 1980 quieting the title of defendants-respondents in their mining claims against plaintiffs-appellants.

Appellants characterization of the disposition of the case from the lower Court to the effect that "although appellants showed that substantial assessment work had been done for their claims, the Court, in effect, ruled that since it found the work insufficient to satisfy the assessment requirement as to all claims, the work was insufficient to meet the requirement as to any claims" \* is in error. There is no statement in either the findings of fact, conclusions of law or the decree quieting to title to warrant such a conclusion and any attempt to mangle the words of the Court in such a fashion is entirely unjustified.

\* Appellants' Brief, page 3.



Further comment on the nature of the testimony and evidence introduced by appellants as to the performance of assessment work will be reserved until later in this brief.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-respondents seek an affirmance of the judgment of the Trial Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE MATERIAL FACTS

The statement of facts hereinafter set forth relates to the position of the respondents Powells in the above action and is limited to the facts, circumstances and periods of time that are pertinent to the Powell mining claims.

The appellant, Kenneth Silliman, is the successor in interest from Utah Alloy Ores to approximately 84 mining claims in the Yellow Cast mining district in Grand County. Utah Alloy Ores acquired the claims from various locators at different times and then within the past few years conveyed them to Silliman. Silliman was the Utah agent for Utah Alloy Ores which had most of its principals in the State of Ohio. While in the employ of Utah Alloy Ores, Silliman did assessment work for the company and directed their Utah operations for an extended period of time. Silliman has owned the claims in question during the period of Powells' involvement in the mining district.

While all but eight of appellants 84 claims could be labeled, "contiguous", the claimed contiguity is not that normally associated with mining claims. Appellants' claims stretch over a distance of more than four miles with groups of multiple claims



being connected often by only a single point of reference. (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 11 and 12).

Powells are the original locators of their claims. Dan Powell testified that at the time, he along with the other Powells, located these claims, they made an inspection of the area they proposed to locate and found no indication of prior claims. They found no location monuments, no location papers, no corner monuments, and no evidence that recent assessment work had been done in the area. At the time they located these claims they considered the area open for location.

The Powell claims being challenged in this case were located as follows:

<u>CLAIMS</u>	<u>DATE OF LOCATION</u>
Yellow Cats 3-18, 4A, 6A, 8A, 10A	April 1974
Yellow Cats 1, 2, 19-22, 2A, 12A, 14A 16A, 18A, 20A & 22A	Aug. 1975
Brad 3-12	June 1975
Brad 2, 13-22	July 1975
Brad 1	July 1976
White Sands 0, 1-8, A-H	June 1975
White Sands 11, 9-13	Sept. 1975
Joe 1	Sept. 1975
Joe 2	Nov. 1975
Mark 00, 0, 1-10, A, B, C, D, E	August 1975

At all times subsequent to the location of these claims the Powells have been actively engaged in developing the claims and the natural resources found thereon.

The assessment years ending September 1, 1973, 1974 and 1975, are the critical assessment years under law that requires owners of claims to do their annual assessment work on the claims by September 1, of each calendar year. The testimony of Powells' and other defendants at trial was that there was no assessment work being done in the areas where they located claims in the respective years. There was no ore mined nor drilling performed during the critical years for Powells and no physical evidence on the ground that any work had been done. Powells, who in good faith located these claims and expended considerable time and money thereon, were challenged by Appellant claiming to be a prior owner of the claims when he filed suit against respondents on January 10th, 1977.

On pages 7 through 10 of Appellants' brief, appellants question the good faith of respondents Powells in locating their claims involved in this lawsuit. The weight of the testimony introduced at trial together with the Court's Findings and Conclusions point to the good faith of the Powells and all other respondents in locating their respective claims.

Testimony of Dan Powell and other respondents established the fact that not only were appellants' claims not distinctly marked and easily identifiable in the field but that respondents made diligent efforts to find any markings whatsoever of prior claims and to check their findings with the Grand County Recorder's Office. (Testimony of Dan Powell, transcript of March 22, 1979 pages 555-556).

On Friday, March 23, 1979 the testimony of Dan Powell concerning what he observed in the field at the time the Powell claims were located was as follows:

Q (By Mr. Frandsen) During the period when you were staking the claims, did you see Kenneth Silliman in the area?

A At the time I was staking the claims?

Q Yes.

A. No.

Q Did you see any of his equipment there?

A No.

Q Did you see any evidence of assessment work such as work on the roads or on particular claims?

A None whatsoever

Q Did you see any evidence of assessment work such as work on the roads or on particular claims?

A None whatsoever.

Q Did you see any claim monuments that could be identified with the Silliman or Utah Alloy Ores claims?

A None.

Q Did you see any notices of location?

A None.

Q Did you see any other paper that would identify claims with Silliman or Utah Alloy Ores?

A No. I didn't know anything about Kenneth Silliman or Utah Alloy Ores until Mr. Silliman called me.

Q When was that, that he called you?

A It was in the fall, September of 1976.

(transcript of March 23, 1979 pages 606-607)

The testimony of respondent Mary J. Teare regarding

evidences of appellants claims located on the ground is substantially the same as that of Dan Powell's and is as follows:

Q Now, the area where you were locating this group of Lone Indian claims, is that in the vicinity of the area marked "orange" on Exhibit 11 on the eastern side of group of claims in question?

A Yes, it is.

Q What did you discover to be the reason for locating your claim 1, Lone Indian?

A We discovered-well, it was just that. We found the two old portals in this cleft and they were abandoned. There was no current markers or papers to be found anywheres in the vicinity, and it looked as though they were abandoned claims.

Q Did you see any monuments at all?

A No sir, not at that time.

Q Were there any Affidavits or assessment notices on the portals of those claims?

A No sir.

The testimony of these two witnesses and that of other respondents in this case establish the fact that appellants' claims were not distinctly marked so as to be readily identifiable in the field. The number of respondents made parties to this action by appellants and who, appellants claim, overstaked appellants' prior claims, is evidence enough to support respondents testimony that at the time of location there was no evidence of prior claims on the ground and that respondents' claims were located in good faith. Certainly, anyone interested in maintaining and working his claims, would protect his interest by properly and adequately marking the claims on the

ground so as to avoid potential conflicts such as those involved in this case. In the deposition of plaintiff, Silliman, taken on March 2, 1979, Mr. Silliman said himself that this was the fourth law suit involving these particular claims since his involvement with the claims on May 2, 1948. (Deposition of Kenneth Silliman, page , published into the record at trial on March 22, 1979. See Transcript pages 412 and 413.)

Additional factors to be considered in establishing respondents' good faith in locating the claims and appellants' apparent abandonment of the claims are the discrepancies contained in various maps introduced into evidence at the trial regarding the location of individual claims. An examination of appellants Exhibits No.'s 1 and 11 and respondents' Exhibit No. 56 which collectively reveal the results of the J. Bene 1956 and 1965 surveys, the R.S. Kaiser 1956 Survey, the G. H. Newell 1956 Survey, the Moab 1954 Survey, the J. E. Keogh 1956 Survey, the J. E. Keogh 1978 Survey, the Steele 1953-54 Survey, and the R. D.-9 Map of 1940, reveals major differences in the actual physical location of many of appellants' claims. These differences make it difficult, if not impossible, to ascertain exactly where appellants' claims are located on the ground and create a major obstacle for those desiring to locate additional claims on what open ground remains in the area.

Careful consideration of these facts as well as other evidence and testimony brought out at the trial leads to the



conclusion that at the time respondents Powells located their claims in 1974, 1975 and 1976 there was no indication whatsoever on the ground of prior claims and therefore no way of ascertaining the existence of such claims. There were no location monuments, no location papers, no corner monuments, no assessment notices, no evidence that assessment work had recently been performed, nor any other indication that the area in question was currently being worked and the natural resources thereon developed.

On pages 11 through 16 of Appellants' Brief, appellants set forth the assessment work claimed to have been done by them during the critical assessment years for the Powell Claims. On pages 11 and 12, appellants attempt to establish a blanket \$50.00 per hour figure for all work claimed to have been done on their claims for the assessment years ending September 1, 1974 through September 1, 1978. This \$50.00 figure was apparently contrived from Silliman's testimony that he charge approximately \$27.50 to \$30.00 an hour to perform Cat work similar to that claimed to have been performed on the Silliman Claims for third parties. (Transcript at 407.) To achieve the balance of the \$50.00 per hour figure claims an additional \$20.00 to \$22.50 an hour for supervisory fee for his alleged presence on the claims. It should be pointed out, however, that the rate Silliman claimed he would charge third parties for performance of Cat work similar of that claimed to have been performed on appellants' claims was apparently a 1979

rate Silliman would have charged at the time of trial and not the market rate during the years 1972 through 1975, which are the critical assessment years for the Powells. It should also be noted that while some supervision of the performance of assessment work by the owner of the claims is important, it is not necessary, nor is it the custom, for the owner of the claims to be physically present on the claims during the entire time the assessment work is performed. In fact, where no drilling is performed, as was the situation in the facts presented by this case, it would only be necessary for the owner of the claims to make minimal supervision of the alleged assessment work period.

As indicated earlier, Silliman claimed that the \$50.00 per hour rate applied for the entire period of over ten years (i.e. 1966-1976). Fifty dollars per hour was a convenient figure for Mr. Silliman to use because, when multiplied by the number of hours Silliman claimed to have worked on the claims, the result is a figure higher than the \$8,400.00 required by law to hold the claims. That \$50.00 per hour for D-6 Cat work in any of the critical assessment years far exceeds the reasonable value or worth of such work is brought out by the testimony of disinterested third parties called by the respondents to testify at trial. All of these expert witnesses had had experiences in owning and operating D-6 and other sizes of caterpillar tractors and all testified to a rate that was the going rate in Grand County substantially under the \$50.00 per



hour rate claimed by Silliman.

Testimony of Jay D. Wilson, owner of C & W Contracting Co., and familiar with the operation of D-6 and other size caterpillar for more than twenty years, was that for the years 1969 and 1971 the rate was \$14.00 per hour and \$16.00 per hour respectively. A witness called by Powells, Mr. James T. Boulden, who owns and operates a number of D-6 and other tractors out of the Moab area, testified that the going rates for the years 1972, 1973, 1974, and 1975, the critical assessment years for the Rowells, were \$15.00 per hour, \$17.00 per hour, \$20.00 per hour, and \$23.00 per hour, respectively. (Transcript of March 23, 1979, pp. 648 and 829.) Mr. Boulden's figures were introduced into evidence as Exhibit 82.

The cost per hour increased each year with the cost of inflation and the cost of doing this type of work and the highest rate in Moab and Grand County area in 1979 was \$40.00 per hour. This highest rate is substantially less than the \$50.00 per hour rate which Silliman claimed has existed since 1966. That Silliman is inaccurate in his statement about the rate per hour is substantiated by the fact that he claimed that the \$50.00 rate applied for the full ten year period. This is obviously wrong and the rates have gradually increased over a period of time from \$15.00 per hour in 1972 to \$40.00 per hour in 1979.

Another important factor in determining the amount of assessment work that Silliman did, if any is the amount

of fuel consumed by the D-6 Cat while working on the claims. In the transcript of March 23, 1979, pp. 667-668, Mr. D. H. Blackstone, a former independant Cat operator, testified that a D-6 cat would consume on the average four gallons of fuel per hour. If Mr. Silliman worked his D-6 for the hours that he claims, he would have used in excess of 900 gallons of diesel fuel. This would certainly require him to purchase it from some wholesaler which in turn would give him a sales ticket to show this purchase. When he cannot do this, nor show that the fuel was transported to the claims, the conclusion is that he only worked on the claims for a few days during these critical years and did not use a great deal of diesel fuel and did not require a bulk purchase.

In pages 13 through 16 of Appellants' brief, appellants set forth both the amount and character of assesment work claimed to have been performed by Silliman during the critical assessment years for the Powells. Before commenting on each of these three assessment years, it is important to point out the credibility accorded to appellant Sillimans testimony given at trial by the Trial Court. In its Memorandum Decision, the Court indicated that the complex and varied testimony "impels the Court to adopt a theory of a case which most completely, as far as practical, harmonizes the testimony of all the witnesses, thusly not requiring the Court to reject as intentionally false any of the testimony. Under this mandate, the Court has given such weight and credibility to the testimony of each witness

as, in the Court's judgment, each is entitled to." Then, in further commenting upon appellant Sillimans testimony, the Court in Finding No. 18 stated that:

"The testimony of Plaintiff on assessment work for the various years was apparantly reconstructed by plaintiff after the present suit was filed as to dates, the type of work performed and the value of said assessment work and there was no substantial testimony showing plaintiff's intentions at the time the work was performed as to the claims the work would benefit and the extent and amount of such benefit."

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